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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

 

I. Whether claims challenging certain statements describing a company’s 

environmental commitments, practices, and risks are inactionable under 

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) as a matter of law, and whether those claims 

adequately plead scienter.  

 

II. Whether a claim for control person liability under 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) 

requires an allegation that the control person was a culpable participant 

in the primary violation.  
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Red River is a publicly traded oil and gas exploration company founded 

by James Wilson. (R. at 2.) In the 1990’s, Red River honed the power of a 

drilling technique called hydraulic fracturing, or “fracking,” 1 and by 2018 was 

one of the most influential oil exploration companies in the United States. (R. 

at 2–4.) In its beginning, fracking was a controversial topic in West Texas 

because it involved drilling through aquifers, but, ultimately, many companies 

widely used fracking in the United States. (R. at 4.)  

 Wilson is Red River’s chairman and chief executive officer. Id. Pamela 

Thompson serves as chief operating and environmental officer and Sandra 

Grimes as senior vice president and general counsel. Id. Both Thompson and 

Grimes are highly experienced and well-versed in regulatory compliance and 

public company disclosure requirements. (R. at 3–4.) Throughout her career, 

Thompson has aimed to keep Red River in compliance with environmental 

regulations and Wilson, despite feeling burdened by the high costs of 

compliance and bothered by bureaucratic influence, valued maintaining an 

upstanding reputation of compliance for Red River. (R. at 3–4.) Wilson, 

Thompson, and Grimes have always been careful to note the environmental 

risks and concerns of fracking, which include ground water and soil 

                                                        
1 The fracking process involves pumping shale rock formations with water, sand, and 
chemicals in order to bring oil and gas to the surface. (R. at 3–4.) Oil and gas wells are then 
drilled vertically into the earth, and then upon reaching the shale rock formation, horizontally 
over its expanse. (R. at 4.) High-pressure fluid injects into the shale rock to “fracture” it and 
release oil. Id. Sometimes shale rock is blasted in order to make the rock more permeable. Id. 
This creates wastewater, which is stored in “closed container” tanks and treated. Id. 
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contamination, in their public disclosure documents. (R. at 4.) These risks 

never materially impacted Red River’s income nor operations. Id.  

In late 2017, Red River received phone calls from a few university geology 

departments reporting low-level seismic activity in the Eagle Ford shale, an 

area Red River fracked. (R. at 5.) Red River’s environmental compliance team 

was not concerned this was due to fracking, but rather from wastewater 

discharge which traditional non-fracking oil wells also produce. Id. Grimes and 

Thompson, in their experience, did not think the calls required disclosure, and 

certainly did not warrant a suspension of fracking. Id. Wilson also spoke with 

the engineering team about Red River’s toxic wastewater storage facilities. Id. 

The engineers believed the system to be structurally sound but expressed 

concern it was close to capacity. Id. After this discussion, Wilson agreed to 

expand the wastewater storage facilities upon expanding operations. Id.  

In January 2018, Red River’s environmental disclosures2 focused 

primarily on minor environmental mishaps. Id. Wilson felt that these 

disclosures did not highlight Red River’s environmental compliance efforts and 

he wanted to speak freely and positively about the company’s environmental 

commitment, which he could not do without clearance from Grimes and 

Thompson. Id. In February 2018, Wilson attended a talk by a gas exploration 

company senior vice president and general counsel who stated that she saw 

little risk in Section 10(b) exposure from generalized statements about a 

                                                        
2 Each contested statement from the 10-K and 10-Q forms, as well as Wilson’s personal 
statements, are attached in Appendix A.  See also R. at 36. 
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company’s commitment to compliance and environmental protection efforts. Id. 

Furthermore, she approved of expressing opinions regarding compliance and 

environmental preparedness, so long as the statements did not include factual 

assertions or omit relevant context. Id. These statements inspired Wilson to set 

a more positive tone in Red Rivers public statements and disclosure 

documents. Id. Red River then began highlighting their commitment and 

dedication to environmental compliance often and adjusted their disclosure 

documents to emphasize a focus on environmental compliance and safe 

practices. Id. Wilson too began sharing positive opinions regarding Red River’s 

environmental compliance and felt confident he could to say this. Id.  

In May 2017, Red River received more calls regarding low-level seismic 

activity in Eagle Ford. (R at 7.) Thompson, Grimes, and Wilson placed 

considerable thought into these calls and decided to appoint a prominent 

university geologist to investigate the matter in conjunction with the company’s 

upcoming July environmental practices review. Id. In May 2018 Wilson 

expressed that chances of a major environmental event were minimal. Id. In 

May 2018, Red River received more calls about the low-level seismic activity 

but were still conducting the environmental review so made no disclosures. Id.  

On June 1, 2018 Red River filed listed as a risk on its Form 10-Q the 

possibility of earthquakes. (R. at 7.) On June 3, 2018, TRSF purchased Red 

River shares on the New York Stock Exchange. Id. On June 7, 2018, FMRF did 

the same. Id. On June 10, 2018, mid-level seismic shocks hit the Eagle Ford 

Shale, destroying the integrity of Red River’s wastewater storage site and 
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wastewater seeped into the regional aquifers. Id. As a result, Red River’s stock 

price decreased. Id. Investigators revealed that Red River used excessive 

explosives to condition the shale rock for injection, however the reports did not 

conclude that the blasting contributed to the seismic activity. Id. Investigators 

agreed that fracking was the proximate cause for the wastewater’s escape and 

Red River’s storage tanks were filled beyond control. Id.  

TRSF and FMRF brought suit against Red River and Wilson in the 

District Court for the District of Fordham asserting a violation of Section 10(b) 

of the Securities Exchange Act (“Exchange Act”) and SEC Rule 10b-5. (R. at 8–

9.) Additionally, TRSF and FMRF asserted a control person liability claim 

against Wilson under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. (R. at 9). Red River 

and Wilson filed a 12(b)(6) motion to state a claim to dismiss both claims, 

asserting that TRSF and FMRF did not adequately plead a primary violation 

against Red River or Wilson’s culpable participation. Id. The District Court 

dismissed both claims, however the Court of Appeals reversed and held that (1) 

TRSF and FMRF did assert a primary violation against Wilson and that (2) 

Section 20 does not require a culpable participation element. (R. at 19, 25). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, “a complaint must 

contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a claim for relief 

that is plausible on its face.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). An 

appellate court reviews a district court’s dismissal for failure to state a claim de 

novo. Khalik v. United Air Lines, 671 F.3d 118, 1190 (10th Cir. 2012).  
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 All eight of the challenged statements are inactionable under 15 U.S.C.  

§ 78j(B) as a matter of law. First, the alleged misleading statements, at the time 

they were made, did not misrepresent or omit any material fact. Several of the 

statements can be attributed to mere “corporate mismanagement,” which are 

not actionable under federal securities law. Moreover, all of the statements are 

puffery, too general or vague, or display general corporate optimism, which are 

likewise inactionable. A reasonable investor would not have relied on any of 

these statements. Even if this Court finds that some of the statements did 

misrepresent or omit a material fact, Respondents still fail to adequately plead 

scienter as required by law. Using a “fraud by hindsight” approach goes against 

both this Court’s precedent and Congress’ legislation on this subject matter. 

Even if there was a violation of Rule 10b-5, Wilson still would not be 

liable because plaintiffs should be required to plead culpable participation as 

an element to a Section 20(a) claim. This Court should require culpable 

participation because, despite Respondents’ arguments to the contrary, the 

language of Section 20(a) does not unambiguously establish a “good faith” 

affirmative defense to be raised by a defendant. Since the statute is ambiguous, 

upon considering legislative history and the greater context of Section 20(a) 

within the Exchange Act it is clear that Congress did not intend hold control 

persons liable solely based on a controlling relationship. Rather, Congress 

intended culpable participation by the control person—to hold otherwise would 

be disastrous. Petitioners respectfully ask this Court to reverse and remand. 
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ARGUMENT 

 One of Congress’ main goals through its passing of the Exchange Act in 

1934 and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 was to limit the 

number of frivolous lawsuits that plague federal securities law. Moreover, 

Congress sought to protect corporations and hold them to uniform standards 

to ensure fair practices. Unfortunately, here, the Fourteenth Circuit wrongfully 

expanded on this Court’s precedent and Congress’ clear legislation to open the 

door to exactly what Congress intended to protect corporations against. 

Accordingly, Respondents failed to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted and this Court should reverse the Fourteenth Circuit’s holding. 

I. THE CHALLENGED STATEMENTS ARE INACTIONABLE UNDER 15 
U.S.C. § 78J(B) AS A MATTER OF LAW. 

 
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act makes it unlawful “[t]o use or employ, 

in connection with the purchase or sale of any security registered on a national 

securities exchange . . . any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in 

contravention of such rules and regulations as the [Securities and Exchange] 

Commission may prescribe.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (2012). One such rule 

prescribed by the SEC is Rule 10b–5. Rule 10b–5 makes it unlawful to make an 

untrue statement of material fact or omit a material fact necessary to make a 

statement not misleading. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2012). To establish a 

violation of Section 10(b) or Rule 10b–5, Plaintiff must plead five elements: “(1) 

a material misrepresentation or omission of fact, (2) scienter, (3) a connection 

with the purchase or sale of a security, (4) transaction and loss causation, and 
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(5) economic loss.” In re Daou Sys., 411 F.3d 1006, 1014 (9th Cir. 2005). Here, 

at issue are only the material misrepresentation and scienter elements. 

To survive a motion to dismiss on such claims, Respondents must meet 

the heightened pleading standards of Rule 9(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (“PSLRA”), 

15 U.S.C. § 78u-4 (2012). The PSLRA requires plaintiffs to “specify each 

statement alleged to have been misleading [and] the reason or reasons why the 

statement is misleading.” Id. § 78u-4(b)(1).  

Here, the Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly identified the contested 

statements as materially misleading for two reasons. First, at the time these 

statements were made, many of them were nothing more than corporate 

mismanagement which is inactionable under Section 10(b). Second, all of the 

statements are puffery, too general or vague, or corporate optimism that fall 

out of Section 10(b)’s scope. Therefore, because the statements fit into one, or 

both, of these categories, this Court must reverse. 

A. This Court should dismiss this Action because the alleged 
misleading statements, at the time they were made, did not 
misrepresent or omit any material fact to form a proper basis 
for a Section 10(b) claim. 

 
An actionable misrepresentation must be “misleading as to a material 

fact.” Matrixx Initiatives v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 38 (2011). But, Section 

10(b) and Rule 10b-5 “do not create an affirmative duty to disclose any and all 

material information.” Id. at 44. “Disclosure of . . . information is not required . 

. . simply because it may be relevant or of interest to a reasonable investor.” 

Resnik v. Swartz, 303 F.3d 147, 154 (2d Cir. 2002). Rather, information is 
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actionable only when disclosure of such information is “necessary ‘to make . . . 

statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading.’” Matrixx Initiatives, 563 U.S. at 44. Only false 

statements or omissions of material facts are actionable, and for an omission to 

be material there must be a “substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the 

omitted fact would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having 

significantly altered the ‘total mix’ of information made available.” TSC Indus., 

Inc. v. Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976). 

This Court has previously explained that holding a low standard of 

materiality—such as defining a “material fact” as any “fact which a reasonable 

shareholder might consider important”—would lead corporations to “bury the 

shareholders in an avalanche of trivial information[,] a result that is hardly 

conducive to informed decisionmaking.” Id. at 448–49. “Although determining 

materiality in securities fraud cases should ordinarily be left to the trier of fact, 

conclusory allegations of law and unwarranted inferences are insufficient to 

defeat a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim.” In re Cutera Sec. Litig., 

610 F.3d 1103, 1108 (9th Cir. 2010). 

The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly identified several of the statements as 

not being regarded as corporate mismanagement or mere puffery. Respondents 

urge this Court to depart from its previous decisions that disallowed finding 

“fraud by hindsight,” but such a rule would cripple corporate entities and 

would make nearly any statement actionable. This reasoning directly departs 

from Congress’ legislation and this Court’s precedent. 
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1. Several of the alleged materially misleading statements 
are not actionable because they can be attributed to 
corporate mismanagement. 

 
Mere allegations of mismanagement do not state a claim for securities 

fraud. O & G Carriers, Inc. v. Smith, 799 F. Supp. 1528, 1540 (S.D.N.Y. 1992). 

As this Court, and many other circuits, has observed, “[S]ection 10(b) was not 

designed to regulate corporate mismanagement nor to prohibit conduct which 

does not involve manipulation or deception.” Decker v. Massey–Ferguson, Ltd., 

681 F.2d 111, 115 (2d Cir. 1982) (citing Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 

462, 479–80 (1977)); see also In re Citigroup, Inc. Sec. Litig., 330 F. Supp. 2d 

367, 375 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (“[A]llegations of mismanagement, even where a 

plaintiff claims that it would not have invested in an entity had it known of the 

management issues, are insufficient to support a securities fraud claim under 

[S]ection 10(b).”). Moreover, claims are barred under Santa Fe if the “central 

thrust” arises from acts of corporate mismanagement. See Panter v. Marshall 

Field & Co., 646 F.2d 271, 289 (7th Cir. 1981). 

The statements that Respondents challenged in the Fourteenth Circuit 

were Stmts. 2–4.3 (R. at 14.) The Fourteenth Circuit incorrectly agreed with 

Respondents’ argument that Red River’s “excessive blasting,” disregard of 

issues with wastewater storage capacity, and failing to take “any” precautions 

                                                        
3 As a reminder, these statements emphasized “that Red River’s highest priority was “ensuring 
that [its] drilling activity continues to be conducted in a manner consistent with protecting the 
environment and preventing or remediating damage resulting from an environmental 
occurrence” (Stmt. 2), that Red River frequently reviewed its environmental practices to “ensure 
protection of the environment” (Stmt. 3), and that Red River used “the latest technology” to 
“minimize surface water or soil contamination” (Stmt. 4).” (R. at 14.) 
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to mitigate any environmental consequences after receiving three reports of 

seismic activity went further than mismanagement by alleging shareholder 

deception. (R. at 14–15.) This reasoning misses the mark.  

This case is similar to Santa Fe Industries, Inc. v. Green, where the 

plaintiffs asserted claims under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b–5 because the 

defendants failed to give them advance notice of a short-form merger. 430 U.S. 

at 467. The Supreme Court framed the issue before it as whether Congress 

intended Section 10(b) to prohibit conduct that might constitute a breach of 

fiduciary duty or corporate mismanagement but did not involve manipulation 

or deception. Id. at 473. The Court held that corporate mismanagement or 

other violations of fiduciary duty by corporate officers, when not accomplished 

through deception, was not actionable under federal securities law. Id. at 478.  

 Like Santa Fe, where this Court held that failing to give advance notice 

constituted mere corporate mismanagement, same here, the failure to include 

the “reports” of certain seismic activity in the Eagle Ford Shale does not 

materially impact Stmts. 2–4. Indeed, at the time Red River produced Stmts. 2–

4, it only received the first set of reports, not the “three reports of seismic 

activity” that Respondents mischaracterize. (R. at 14.) At most, failing to 

include the first set of reports in the March 1, 2018, 10-K form was corporate 

mismanagement—which comes nowhere near the required threshold.  

 Further, Respondents urge that Stmts. 2–4 directly contradict Red 

River’s “excessive blasting” and “disregard of issues with wastewater storage 

capacity.” (R. at. 14–15.) First, neither of those allegations are true, and 
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second, the 10-K form’s reiteration of Red River’s commitment to a high priority 

of environmental safety and best practices does not conflict with Red River’s 

actual business practices. Although Red River did use blasting in some 

instances to make the shale rock more permeable, (R. at 4), the only mention in 

the record of “excessive” blasting was revealed after an August 1, 2018 

investigation report, but that does not garner any support for Respondents’ 

argument, as it was only known after the 10-K form’s release, (R. at 8). 

Finally, Respondent’s argument about wastewater storage issues does 

not conflict with Stmt. 4. The record only reveals that engineers told Wilson 

that the wastewater storage facilities were “structurally sound,” and 

recommended adding additional capacity. (R. at 5.) After avoiding a single 

wastewater issue for over fifteen years of using the fracking technology, Wilson 

did not materially mislead anyone by omitting this recommendation from the 

10-K report. Moreover, Wilson did not “disregard” this recommendation 

because he noted that a change would be made if Red River expanded. (R. at 

5.) This Court should follow the district court’s and Judge McDonnell-Lewis’ 

analysis to find that the central thrust of these three statements arise from 

corporate mismanagement, which are inactionable under Section 10(b). 

2. A reasonable investor would see these statements as 
unimportant because they are mere puffery, too general 
or vague, or display general corporate optimism. 

 
Petitioners' statements are “too general to cause a reasonable investor to 

rely on them” and are, therefore, “not actionable under the securities laws.” In 

re Sanofi Sec. Litig., 155 F. Supp. 3d 386, 401 (S.D.N.Y. 2016). Numerous 
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courts that have faced similar statements have so held. For example, in ECA, 

Local 134 IBEW Joint Pension Trust of Chicago v. JP Morgan Chase Co., 553 

F.3d 187 (2d Cir. 2009), the Second Circuit held that the defendant's statement 

that it “had risk management processes [that] are highly disciplined and 

designed to preserve the integrity of the risk management process, that it set 

the standard for integrity, and that it would continue to reposition and 

strengthen [its] franchises with a focus on financial discipline” were too general 

to be actionable. Id. at 205–06 (alterations in original) (citations and quotations 

omitted). Moreover, the Second Circuit concluded that JP Morgan Chase’s 

statements “did not, and could not, amount to a guarantee that its choices 

would prevent failures in its risk management practices.” Id. at 206.  

Similarly, in In re Sanofi, the court concluded that the defendants’ 

statements that it “maintain[ed] an effective compliance organization” and had 

a “very tight compliance program” were not actionable even though the 

defendant “did not actually maintain an effective compliance program . . . at 

the time the statements were made.” 155 F. Supp. 3d at 401.  

Several of the statements are too general for a reasonable investor to rely 

on them. Just as in JP Morgan Co., where JP Morgan’s statements about 

setting the standard and being highly disciplined did not amount to a 

guarantee that its choices would prevent failures in its risk management 

practices, here, Stmts. 1 and 6–74 are too general and vague to be actionable 

under Section 10(b). As the district court and the Fourteenth Circuit correctly 

                                                        
4 See R. at 36 (quoting each statement in its entirety).  
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found, Stmts. 1 and 6 are clearly inactionable. (R. at 16.) As to Stmt. 7, where 

Wilson stated that there was “about a zero percent chance” of a disaster 

happening on Red River’s property, this is a generalization that no reasonable 

investor could rely on because of its clear hyperbolic nature. See, e.g., JP 

Morgan Chase Co., 553 F.3d at 206 (“[G]eneralizations regarding [a company’s] 

business practices . . . are precisely the type of puffery that this and other 

circuits have consistently held to be inactionable.”). Although one could read 

Stmt. 7 as a guarantee, it is better reconciled as a generalized hyperbole that 

Wilson used describing his company’s near two-decade disaster-free record. 

A securities fraud claim likewise may not be based on optimistic 

statements or puffery. See San Leandro Emergency Med. Grp. Profit Sharing 

Plan v. Philip Morris Co., 75 F.3d 801, 811 (2d Cir. 1996) (“[G]eneral 

announcements by [Defendant] that it was ‘optimistic’ about its earnings and 

‘expected’ . . . to perform well” are “puffery [that] cannot have misled a 

reasonable investor . . . and cannot constitute actionable statements.”). 

Further, “[t]he important limitation on these principles is that optimistic 

statements may be actionable upon a showing that the defendants did not 

genuinely or reasonably believe the positive opinions they touted.” Lapin v. 

Goldman Sachs Grp., Inc., 506 F. Supp. 2d 221, 239 (S.D.N.Y. 2006).5 

                                                        
5 Respondents cite In re Massey Energy Co. Sec. Litig., 883 F. Supp. 2d 597, 618 (S.D. W. Va. 
2012), for the proposition that some statements may be considered actionable if they recognize 
certain past achievements or current goals and tie it to the company’s success. However, this 
rule is discretionary and is not binding on this Court. Further, this cited proposition is 
inapposite because none of the contested statements recognize any specific practices, as they 
are all generalized to the company overall.  
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Stmts. 2 and 4, which reference Red River’s priority to preventing 

environmental damage, investing in the latest technology, and minimizing 

water contamination did not materially mislead or omit any material facts. (R. 

at 36.) These two optimistic statements did not amount to more than mere 

puffery and would not mislead a reasonable investor. Again, the Fourteenth 

Circuit incorrectly characterizes Red River as omitting material reports about 

seismic activity. When Red River produced Stmts. 2 and 4, only the first set of 

reports were available to Red River and highly trained experts evaluated the 

viability of these reports to deem them speculative. Moreover, the record is 

absent on anyone being aware of “excessive blasting” on March 1, 2018, the 

date of the released 10-K report, to warrant disclosure to any reasonable 

investor. Wilson’s company, at the time when Red River produced Stmts. 2 and 

4, never had one environmental or wastewater issue that impacted his 

business. See In re JP Morgan Chase Sec. Litig., 363 F. Supp. 2d 595, 633 

(S.D.N.Y. 2005) (“The particular misstatements that plaintiffs allege—

generalizations regarding integrity, fiscal discipline and risk management—

amount to no more than puffery.”). 

Moreover, the Fourteenth Circuit erred by holding that statements in the 

10-K forms or Wilson’s statements could not have been believed when made, 

and thus would be actionable under Section 10(b). This is incorrect for two 

reasons. First, Red River, and Wilson individually, have had a long record of 

being innovative and keeping their environmental standards high. Since Red 

River’s first fracking venture in 2000, no environmental disaster, wastewater 
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issue, or anything else has occurred on a concerning level. Second, 

corporations are in the business of making its investors happy with corporate 

optimism, which is something that reasonable investor would expect.  

Finally, Red River’s Risk statements (Stmts. 5 and 8) are not materially 

misleading in any way. This case is similar to Cement & Concrete Workers 

District Council Pension Fund v. Hewlett Packard Co., 964 F. Supp. 2d 1128, 

1141 (N.D. Cal. 2013), where the court found Hewlett Packard’s risk 

disclosures immaterial. The risk disclosure read: “The failure to hire executives 

and key employees or the loss of executives and key employees could have a 

significant impact on our operations.” Id. The court reasoned that this was 

disclosure was immaterial because “vague and routine statements” concerning 

future risks did not meet the standard to render this disclosure material. Id.  

Like Hewlett Packard Co., where its risk disclosure was too vague and 

routine to render it material, here, Stmts. 5 and 8, which talk about potential 

risks, are not material. Red River did not omit any relevant information that 

would render these statements materially misleading. The fact that speculated 

certain people were aware of speculated seismic reports do not change that 

conclusion. Respondents’ urge this Court to adopt a standard that would 

require corporations to disclose all potentially adverse information, regardless 

of how speculative or unconfirmed the information may be. See TSC Indus., 

Inc., 426 U.S. at 448–49 (“Some information is of such dubious significance 

that insistence on its disclosure may accomplish more harm than good.”).  
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Accordingly, every statement constituted puffery, generalized corporate 

optimism, or was too vague to be actionable under Section 10(b).  

B. Even if this Court finds that some of the statements did 
misrepresent or omit a material fact, this Action still fails 
because Respondents did not adequately plead scienter as 
required by law. 

 
Section 10(b) and Rule 10b–5 require a showing of scienter—either an 

intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud, or severe recklessness. Mizzaro v. 

Home Depot, Inc., 544 F.3d 1230, 1238 (11th Cir. 2008) (quotation marks 

omitted). “Severe recklessness” is “limited to those highly unreasonable 

omissions or misrepresentations that involve not merely simple or even 

inexcusable negligence, but an extreme departure from the standards of 

ordinary care, and that present a danger of misleading buyers or sellers which 

is either known to the defendant or is so obvious that the defendant must have 

been aware of it.” Id. A “strong inference” of scienter means “an inference that 

is cogent and at least as compelling as any opposing inference one could draw 

from the facts alleged.” Id. (quoting Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, 

Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 324 (2007)) (internal quotations omitted).  

“To determine whether the plaintiff has alleged facts that give rise to the 

requisite ‘strong inference’ of scienter, a court must consider plausible, 

nonculpable explanations for the defendant's conduct, as well as inferences 

favoring the plaintiff.” Tellabs, 551 U.S. at 323–24. Moreover, courts have 

refused to allow plaintiffs to proceed with allegations of “fraud by hindsight.” 

Novak v. Kasaks, 216 F.3d 300, 309 (2d Cir. 2000).  
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 There is no evidence that any of Red River’s employees or management 

knowingly tried to deceive, manipulate, or defraud its investors. Respondents’ 

only argument is that Red River acted with “severe recklessness” to meet the 

scienter standard that is very hard to prove. The Fourteenth Circuit again erred 

by reasoning that Respondents adequately pleaded scienter because of mere 

awareness of alleged seismic reports, wastewater storage issues, and excessive 

blasting. Although these points are incorrect, Red River need not paint a 

“gloomy” picture to its investors without any proof beyond mere speculation. 

See Shields v. Citytrust Bancorp, Inc., 25 F.3d 1124, 1129–30 (2d Cir. 1994) 

(“People in charge of an enterprise are not required to take a gloomy, fearful or 

defeatist view of the future . . . they can be expected to be confident.”). 

 This case is similar to In re Citigroup, Inc. Securities Litigation, 330 F. 

Supp. 2d at 380–81, where the court found that the complained failed to allege 

the required pleading requirement of scienter. Although Citigroup executives 

were aware of certain improper transactions with another company, the court 

held that the pleading showed “only a motive to maximize Citigroup profits and 

potential mismanagement in analyzing the risk of such transactions.” Id. at 

381. Thus, Citigroup did not act with deception or severe recklessness. Id.  

 Like In re Citigroup, where mere awareness of unsubstantiated 

impropriety was not enough to meet the scienter threshold, here, Red River, 

nor anyone in its corporate management, knew of anything besides speculative 

reports. Further, like where Citigroup’s motive to maximize profits amounted to 

“potential mismanagement,” here, Wilson’s motives to not increase the 
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wastewater storage capacity or reveal minor, speculative reports do not amount 

to scienter. At most, Red River and its management staff were negligent in 

failing to pursue avenues harder to get to the bottom of certain issues. 

Fortunately, courts cannot utilize this “fraud by hindsight” approach to punish 

Red River as this Court must look at the time the statements were made.  

 Even if these allegations raise a slight inference of some reckless 

disregard, it is nowhere near as strong as the competing inference that Red 

River simply did not believe that these reports rendered any of the statements 

misleading. Indeed, Red River was aware of certain issues and took the proper 

steps to remedy them and evaluate the claims to see if it required disclosure. 

(R. at 7.) Red River has successfully operated for nearly two decades without 

even the slightest environmental issue, and there was no reason to believe its 

judgment would be any different this time. This Court should reverse the 

Fourteenth Circuit’s holding that several of the statements were materially 

misleading and that Respondents adequately pleaded scienter. 

II. A CLAIM FOR CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY UNDER 15 U.S.C. § 78t 
(a) REQUIRES AN ALLEGATION THAT THE CONTROL PERSON WAS A 
CULPABLE PARTICIPANT IN THE PRIMARY VIOLATION.  

 
Plaintiffs should be required to plead “culpable participation” when 

bringing an action under Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, which provides: 

Every person who, directly or indirectly, controls any person liable 
under any provision of this chapter or of any rule or regulation 
thereunder shall also be liable jointly and severally with and to the 
same extent as such controlled person to any person to whom 
such controlled person is liable, unless the controlling person 
acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act 
or acts constituting the violation or cause of action. 
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15 U.S.C. § 78t(a) (2012). There are two undisputed elements of a prima 

facie case of Section 20(a) liability: (1) a primary violation by a controlled 

person and (2) control of the primary violator by the defendant. See Belmont v. 

MB Inv. Partners, Inc., 708 F.3d 470, 484 (3d Cir. 2013). A primary violation is 

a violation of any provision of the Exchange Act. Id. “Control” is defined as “the 

power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a 

person [or corporation], whether through ownership of voting securities, by 

contract, or otherwise.” S.E.C. v. First Jersey Sec., Inc., 101 F.3d 1450, 1472-73 

(2d Cir. 1996). Corporate officers who sign SEC disclosure documents are 

presumed to “control” their employees. City of Westland Police & Fire Ret. Sys. 

v. MetLife, Inc., 928 F. Supp. 2d 705, 721 (S.D.N.Y. 2013).  

Circuits are split as to whether the two undisputed elements of a Section 

20(a) claim are the only elements. The Second, Third, and Fourth Circuits have 

required plaintiffs to plead a third element: the defendant’s “culpable 

participation” in the primary violation. See Carpenter v. Harris, Upham & Co., 

594 F.2d 388, 394 (4th Cir. 1979); Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, 527 F.2d 880, 

884-85 (3d Cir. 1975); Lanza v. Drexel Co., 479 F.2d 1277, 1299 (2d Cir. 1973). 

The majority of remaining circuits have rejected this requirement, and require 

only the two undisputed elements, but allow defendants to raise a “good faith” 

affirmative defense. See, e.g., Hollinger v. Titan Capital Corp., 914 F.2d 1564, 

1575 (9th Cir. 1990); Metge v. Baehler, 762 F.2d 621, 630-31 (8th Cir. 1985).  

Culpable participation is described as “in some meaningful sense[,] 

culpable participa[tion] in the fraud perpetrated by control persons.” Lanza, 
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479 F.2d at 1299. This Court should join the Second, Third, and Fourth 

Circuits in requiring plaintiffs to plead culpable participation. Wilson is the 

Chief Executive Officer of Red River and he signed Red River’s disclosure 

statements. (R. at 4.) Therefore, he is a control person for the purposes of 

Section 20(a). As discussed previously, Wilson did not oversee a primary 

violation of Rule 10b-5. However, even if he did, Wilson should still not be 

liable because he did not culpably participate in the violation. He valued 

environmental compliance, gave statements similar to other industry leaders, 

and acted with honest beliefs while making his statements. (R. at 6-7.) Thus, 

Wilson was not a culpable participant and should not be held liable solely due 

to his status as an officer of Red River. 

This Court not requiring a culpable participation element would stand in 

opposition to Congress’s intent in passing Section 20(a) and would fall short of 

the heightened pleading requirements of the PSLRA. Additionally, this decision 

would erode liability protections for corporate officers and corporations, 

businesses, and society would be harmed. Thus, this Court should reverse the 

Fourteenth Circuit and hold that Section 20(a) claims require a pleading of 

culpable participation by control persons.  

A. Culpable participation is required because legislative intent 
indicates that Section 20(A) was enacted, not to impose 
liability on the basis of control alone, but also based on the 
extent of the defendant’s involvement in the conduct. 

 
The first step of statutory interpretation is determining whether the 

language has a plain and unambiguous meaning. United States v. Ron Pair 

Enters., Inc., 489 U.S. 235, 240 (1989). Plainness and ambiguity are 
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determined by referencing the language itself, the specific context in which that 

language is used, and the broader context of the statute as a whole. Estate of 

Cowart v. Nicklos Drilling Co., 505 U.S. 469, 477 (1992). The inquiry must 

cease if the statutory language is unambiguous and “the statutory scheme is 

coherent and consistent.” Ron Pair Enters., 489 U.S. at 240.  

In Rochez Bros., Inc. v. Rhoades, the Third Circuit analyzed Section 20(a) 

and found that Congress intended for the statute to contain a culpable 

participation element. 527 F.2d at 885. The court based this conclusion on the 

legislative history of Section 20(a), which shows that Congress intended for 

liability to hinge on culpable participation, rather than simply control. Id. at 

884-85. This was evident because Congress adopted the House version of the 

bill, which opted for a “fiduciary standard” with duty of care for controllers, 

rather than the Senate version with an “insurer’s liability” for controllers with 

no duty of care. Id. at 885. By enacting the House bill, Congress indicated it 

did not intend for anyone to be an insurer against the fraudulent activities of 

another. Id. at 884–85; see also Carpenter, 594 F.2d at 394 (“The Supreme 

Court has noted that in each instance where Congress has created express civil 

liability in favor of purchasers or sellers of securities, it has clearly specified 

whether recovery was to be premised on knowing or intentional conduct, 

negligence, or entirely innocent mistake.”) (citing Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 

425 U.S. 185, 207–09 (1976)). Congress, rather, intended to impose liability on 

control persons who were “in some meaningful sense culpable participants in 

the fraud perpetrated by controlled persons.” Id; see also Ernst & Ernst, 425 
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U.S. at 209 n.28 (indicating that a standard greater than mere negligence is 

required to assert a claim under Section 20(a)). Thus, the court held that 

plaintiffs must plead culpable participation. Rochez Bros., 527 F.2d at 884–85. 

In contrast, in Metge v. Baehler the Eighth Circuit held that culpable 

participation is not a required element of a Section 20(a) claim. 762 F.2d at 

630–31. The court reasoned that the statute’s wording indicates that Section 

20(a) provides an affirmative defense defendants must raise rather than a 

culpable participation element plaintiffs must plead. Id. at 631. See also 

Hollinger, 914 F.2d at 1575 (noting that the statute never mentions culpable 

participation and stating that a controlling person is liable “unless [he] acted in 

good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting 

the violation or cause of action”) (emphasis added). Accordingly, the plain 

meaning of the statute requires only a control relationship. Metge, 762 F.2d at 

630-31. The court further observed that the statute is “remedial” and is to be 

“construed liberally.” Id. at 630. Thus, “good faith and lack of participation are 

affirmative defenses in a controlling person action” and requiring them to be 

plead by a plaintiff “unnecessarily burdens plaintiffs contrary to the plain 

meaning of the statute.” Id. at 630-31; see also In re Parmalat Sec. Litig., 375 F. 

Supp. 2d 278, 308 n.200 (S.D.N.Y. 2005) (noting that “an affirmative defense of 

good faith after pleading of culpable participation produces an ‘illogical result’ 

that renders the good faith clause of the statute meaningless). But see First 

Jersey Sec., 101 F.3d at 1473 (differentiating between culpable participation 

and good faith and stating “[t]o meet the burden of establishing good faith, the 
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controlling person must prove that he exercised due care in his supervision of 

the violator's activities in that he maintained and enforced a reasonable and 

proper system of supervision and internal control[s].”). See generally Hollinger, 

914 F.2d at 1575 (observing that a controlling person may avoid insurer’s 

liability by proving he acted in good faith and did not induce the violations).  

In Lanza v. Drexel, the Second Circuit analyzed Section 20(a)’s legislative 

intent by looking at the overall scheme of the 1933 Securities Act and the 1934 

Exchange Act. 479 F.2d at 1299. The court did this by considering the acts in 

para materia and used Congress’s 1934 amendment to Section 15 of the 1933 

Act, a similar provision to Section 20(a), to clarify the intent of Section 20(a). Id. 

at 1298; see also Maher v. Durango Metals, Inc., 144 F.3d 1302, 1305 n.7 (10th 

Cir. 1998) (“Although worded differently, the control person provisions of § 15 

and § 20(a) are interpreted the same.”). In the 1933 Act, Section 15 held control 

persons absolutely liable for the primary violations committed by controlled 

persons. Id. However, the 1934 amendment added a clause to Section 15 that 

stated a control person is liable unless he “had no knowledge or reasonable 

ground to believe in the existence of the facts by reason of which the liability of 

the controlled person is alleged to exist.” Id. Given Section 20(a)’s similarities to 

Section 15, the court relied on Congress’s amendment to Section 15 to find 

that Section 20(a)’s intent “was obviously to impose liability only on those 

directors who fall within its definition of control and who are in some 

meaningful sense culpable participants in the fraud perpetrated by controlled 

persons.” Id. at 1299; see also Kohn v. Am. Metal Climax Inc., 458 F.2d 255, 
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280 (3d Cir. 1972) (analyzing the legislative history of Rule 10b-5 and stating 

that Rule 10b-5 requires that the defendant act in other than good faith and 

that Congress intended culpability must be present by using words such as 

“cunning, “deceptive,” and “fraudulent,”). Thus, the court found, Congress 

intended there to be culpable participation under Section 20(a). Lanza, 479 

F.2d at 1299. 

Based on the framework for statutory analysis and the foregoing case 

law, this Court should require culpable participation as an element in a Section 

20(a) claim. Respondents will rely on Metge and Hollinger to contend that the 

plain language of the statute provides a good faith affirmative defense rather 

than a culpable participation pleading. However, the statute stating “unless the 

controlling person acted in good faith and did not . . . induce the act or acts 

constituting the violation” does not unambiguously show that Congress meant 

to create a good faith affirmative defense rather than a culpable participation 

pleading. In fact, similar to the Kohn court’s interpretation of Rule 10b-5, this 

wording could be a requirement that the controller acted in bad faith, not an 

affirmative defense. See Kohn, 458 F.2d at 280. Since there is at least some 

ambiguity, it is appropriate to consider the specific context in which that 

language is used and the broader context of the statute as a whole to decipher 

the meaning of the Section 20(a). See Nicklos Drilling Co., 505 U.S. at 477.  

As Lanza and Rochez Bros. show, when analyzing the language of Section 

20(a) within the broader statutory context, it is clear that culpable participation 

is an element in the claim. This is evident in light of Section 15 of the 1933 
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Act’s amendment at the same time as the passage of Section 20(a) and is 

especially persuasive since Section 15 and Section 20(a) have the same 

analysis. See Maher, 144 F.3d at 1305 n.7. When passed in 1933, Section 15 

called for absolute liability for control persons if controlled persons violated the 

Act. However, in 1934 Congress amended Section 15 to hold control persons 

liable “unless the control person had no knowledge or reasonable ground to 

believe in the existence of the facts by reason of which the liability of the 

controlled person is alleged to exist.” This shows that Congress did not intend 

for liability to be staked solely upon a “control” relationship, but rather also 

required “knowledge” or “that primary violations were occurring.” This is 

similar to Section 20(a)’s aim to not hold control person’s liable if they “acted in 

good faith and did not . . . induce the acts constituting the violation.” Congress 

amending Section 15 to exclude liability solely based on control at the same 

time they passed the analogous Section 20(a) is strong proof that Congress 

“intended liability to be based on something besides control”—culpable 

participation. See Rochez Bros., 527 F.2d at 885. Interpreting the amendment 

to Section 15 and Section 20(a) the same also guarantees that the “the 

statutory scheme is coherent and consistent.” See Ron Pair Enters., 489 U.S. at 

240. It would thus be against the intent of Congress to find liability under 

Section 20(a) based simply on a control relationship. 

Additionally, contrary to Hollinger, a pleading of culpable participation 

followed by a defendant’s good faith defense does not render the good faith 

clause meaningless. First Jersey Securities addressed key differences between 
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good faith and culpable participation that show it is not illogical to allow for an 

affirmative defense of good faith after pleading culpable participation. Good 

faith is shown by proving that due care was exercised by “maintain[ing] and 

enforce[ing] a reasonable and proper system of supervision and internal 

control[s].” First Jersey Sec., 101 F.3d at 1450. This is not redundant as even if 

a plaintiff successfully pleads culpable participation, a defendant or defendant 

company could still have enacted the requisite internal compliance programs to 

meet the “good faith” burden.  

Finally, not requiring a culpable participation element amounts to an 

insurer’s liability standard against controlling persons in a corporation. As 

Ernst & Ernst stated, a greater claim than “mere negligence” is required to 

assert a Section 20(a) claim. Yet, here, Respondents contend for a standard 

that says control alone is enough, which does not even meet a negligence 

standard. This unfairly places the burden on directors to raise an affirmative 

defense of good faith, despite no proof of culpability. Burdening a defendant 

with a good faith affirmative defense who did no culpable acts yet lacks 

evidence of internal procedures to establish good faith could ultimately result 

in Section 20(a) being an insurers liability standard.  

B.  The PSLRA establishes that plaintiffs must particularly state 
facts demonstrating a defendant’s culpable participation. 

 
 The PSLRA requires a plaintiff “in any private action [under the Exchange 

Act] . . . in which the plaintiff may recover money damages only on proof that 

the defendant acted with a particular state of mind” to “state with particularity 

facts giving rise to a strong inference that the defendant acted with the 
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required state of mind.” 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(2). See Lapin, 506 F. Supp. 2d at 

247 (“The text of Section (b)(2) of the PSLRA states that the heightened pleading 

requirement is applicable ‘in any private action’ under the Exchange Act 

requiring the defendant’s particular state of mind.”).  

 In Mishkin v. Ageloff, 1998 WL 651065 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 23, 1998), the 

court addressed how PSLRA impacts control person liability. The court said 

that because plaintiffs bringing a claim under Section 20(a) “must ultimately 

prove the defendant’s state of mind in order to prevail,” the PSLRA mandates 

that they must also comply with the heightened pleading requirements in the 

complaint. Id. at *23. The court had previously held that culpable participation 

was not required because the court viewed it as an element that needed to be 

proved at trial. See Duncan, 1996 WL 19043, at *17. The PSLRA, the court 

stated, makes that distinction irrelevant “because it specifically links its 

heightened pleading standard to any cause of action where a particular state of 

mind is an element to the plaintiff’s case, regardless of the stage at which that 

element must be proven.” Mishkin, 1998 WL 651065, at *23. Thus, the court 

concluded, the PSLRA must be complied with where a plaintiff must ultimately 

prove a defendant’s state of mind and plead culpable participation. Id. at *24.  

 Respondents may rely on In re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation 

(“In re I.P.O.”) to advocate that the PSLRA does not apply to Section 20(a) 

claims. 241 F. Supp. 2d 281 (S.D.N.Y. 2003). In this case, the court homed in 

on the difference between a scienter requirement and pleading culpable 

participation (which is an element in the Second Circuit), then held that the 
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congressional intent of Section 20(a) reveals that there is no scienter 

requirement due a Senate report that said controllers are liable unless they act 

in good faith. Id. The opinion then referenced a dissent from the Supreme 

Court that emphasized the “remedial” nature of Section 20(a) and said anyone 

who controls a person is liable, “subject only to the defense of good faith.” Id. 

(quoting Sennott v. Rodman & Renshaw, 414 U.S. 926, 929 (1973) (Douglas, J., 

dissenting)). Thus, the court concluded, scienter is not required in a Section 

20(a) claim and, because no state of mind is required, the PSLRA does not 

apply. Id. at 396. But see Lormand v. U.S. Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 251 (5th 

Cir. 2009) (noting that the PSLRA requires plaintiffs to “plead with 

particularity” facts that strongly infer that the defendant acted with intent to 

deceive or severe recklessness as to the possibility of deceiving shareholders).  

 This Court should adopt the positions of Mishkin and Lormand. As stated 

above, the heightened pleading requirements of the PSLRA are applicable in 

any private action under the Exchange Act if a defendant’s state of mind must 

be proven at any point in the proceedings. Lapin, 506 F. Supp 2d at 247; 

Mishkin, 1998 WL 651065, at *23. Thus, the PSLRA pleading requirements 

must apply to Section 20(a) in this case because ultimately a defendant’s state 

of mind must be proven under the statute. Respondents may try to refute this 

by relying on In Re I.P.O.’s holding that scienter is not required to be pleaded 

unless a defendant presents the affirmative defense of good faith. However, this 

distinction is irrelevant because under the PSLRA it does not matter whether a 

defendant’s mental state is pleaded as an element or raised as an affirmative 
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defense—the heightened pleading standard is required “regardless of the stage” 

in which the mental state must be proven. Mishkin, 1998 WL 651065, at *23. 

Therefore, the PSLRA’s heightened pleading requirements should apply. 

C.  Not requiring culpable participation would erode the liability 
protections afforded to corporate officers. 

 
 Corporations have a separate personality from their directors and 

shareholders. Cargill, Inc. v. JWH Special Circumstance LLC, 959 A.2d 1096, 

1109 (Del. Ch. 2008). This “separate personality” means that officers of a 

corporation have limited liability, which is beneficial to businesses in general. 

See Martin Petrin, The Curious Case of Directors' and Officers' Liability for 

Supervision and Management: Exploring The Intersection Of Corporate and Tort 

Law, 59 Am. U. L. Rev. 1661, 1703 (2010) (“Providing officers with limited 

liability facilitates the aggregation of “human capital” by helping to recruit well-

qualified directors and officers.”).  

Here, if the Court does not require a culpable participation element as 

part of a Section 20(a) claim, corporate protections that keep well-qualified 

people in corporate officer positions would be eroded and business would 

suffer. Burdening directors with affirmatively proving good faith based solely on 

a control relationship despite no wrongdoing could discourage the highest 

quality applicants from pursuing corporate officer roles. Cf. Gregory Walker, 

The Personal Liability of Corporate Officers In Private Actions Under The 

Sherman Act: Murphy Tugboat In Distress, 55 Fordham L. Rev. 909, 916 (1987) 

(observing that strict liability is to be avoided in anti-trust offenses as this 

would result in officers being overly cautious in business activities and cause 
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the public to lose the benefits of aggressive competition). Furthermore, 

economic theorists contend that corporations, not their agents, “are the most 

appropriate and efficient bearers of liability risk” because a corporation can 

distribute liability costs among more parties and more efficiently than an 

individual agent. Petrin, supra at 1704–05. Thus, this Court should favor 

holding corporations rather than their agents liable for Section 20(a) violations. 

Finally, including a “participation” element in claims is trending in other 

areas of corporate law. For example, both anti-trust and copyright law have 

recognized that liability should not be imputed to an officer merely because of 

his or her position in the company. Rather, in both anti-trust and copyright 

law liability is imposed based on personal participation. See, e.g., Walker, 

supra at 836–37; Lynda J. Oswald, The Personal Liability of Corporate Officers 

For Patent Infringement, 44 IDEA 115, 117 (2003). Similarly, this Court should 

require culpable participation to impose liability on control persons in a 

Section 20(a) claim and reverse the Fourteenth Circuit.  

CONCLUSION 

Accordingly, Petitioners respectfully ask this Court to reverse the 

Fourteenth Circuit and remand the case for proper dismissal.  

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

/s/ Team # P12 

Counsel for the Petitioners  
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